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It is a great privilege to dedicate a chapter in honour of Prof. Benjamin
Isaac, whose contribution to the studies of the Roman Army and Aelia
Capitolina are well known. In recent years, as a result of archeological
excavations in Jerusalem in which I was involved, and research discussing
the main streets of Aelia Capitolina (under the supervision of Professor
YoramTsafrir), I met and had long conversations and correspondence with
Professor Benjamin Isaac. I would like to thank Professor Isaac for sharing
his wide knowledge with me and answering my questions with detailed
explanations. His opinion regarding several issues raised in our meetings
contributed a lot to my views concerning the development of the Roman
colony of Aelia Capitolina, near the camp of legio X Fretensis.

In his ‘Roman Colonies in Judaea: The Foundation of Aelia Capitolina’,
Isaac asks: ‘As regards Aelia, it seems quite certain that the legionary base
was part of the city, but we have no evidence at all about the division of
authority . . . and we know nothing of the territorial situation.What was the
military territory and what belonged to the colony? Was there a division
between the two or not?’1 Mapping the archaeological remains of the
Roman period that are known today in Jerusalem (and will be presented
in short later) allows suggesting, with due caution, a possible solution to the
territorial question raised by Isaac.

It is only natural to begin the present discussion with a quote from
Isaac’s The Limits of Empire: ‘In 70 CE, the headquarters of the legion
X Fretensis were established in Jerusalem to guard the former center of the
revolt. This, is stated explicitly by Josephus on three occasions (Josephus, BJ
7.1–2, 5, 17; Vita 422); it follows from the text of a diploma of 93 CE (ILS
9059: “qui militaverunt Hierosolymnis in legione X Fretense”); and it is also
clear from inscriptions found in the town’.2

In addition to the historical sources and the epigraphic finds – the bulk
of military small finds, that were revealed in several sites around the Old
City, indicate the presence of the X Fretensis in Jerusalem: Coins of Aelia

1 Isaac 1998, 89–90, first published in 1980.
2 Isaac 1990:280, footnote 3, now collected in CIIP I, 2, 721–7, 734–6, Isaac 2010, 10–26.300
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Capitolina, bearing symbols of the Tenth Legion; bread stamps of a military
bakery, carrying the symbol of the centuria together with the names of the
centurion and the baker-soldier, in Latin; and a wealth of construction
materials, including clay pipes, roof tiles and bricks, bearing the stamps of
the X Fretensis, are among these finds.3 The kilns of the legion were
recently exposed in Binyanei- ha’Ummah, adding important information.4

Legio X Fretensis retained its base in town until it was transferred to Aela
on the Red Sea sometime in the second half of the third century, perhaps
under Diocletian. Still later, in the late fourth century, theNotitiamentions
a unit of equites Mauri Illyriciani as based in Aelia (Notitia Dignitatum
Orientis xxxiv 21).5

Surprisingly, despite the long duration of military presence in Jerusalem,
and although the ancient literatures insist on the fact that the Roman army
never spent a single night without laying out a fortified camp (Josephus, BJ
3.76–84),6 no archaeological remains were attributed with certainty to the
military camp, and the site of the camp has not yet been identified.

Nevertheless, most researchers, relying on the testimony of Flavius
Josephus and the topography of Jerusalem, propose identifying the legion-
ary base in the area of the south-western hill – that is, the Upper City of the
Second Temple period, and Herod’s palace in its north-west corner.7 The
size of the camp is still a matter of disagreement. Tsafrir, and others,
suggested it lay in the south-west quarter of the Old City – the current
location of the Citadel and the Armenian Quarter; Wilson suggested it
occupied the area of the Armenian and Jewish quarters in the south of the
Old City, and Geva, recently followed by the author, suggested it stretched
all over the summit of the upper city of the Second Temple period, includ-
ing the areas of the Armenian and Jewish Quarters within the Old City, as
well asMount Zion outside the Ottomanwalls. Vincent suggested the camp
was larger in the beginning, occupying the areas of the Jewish and
Armenian Quarters, and later reduced in size.

Since no architectural remains of the military camp were recognized
with certainty in the south-western hill, other suggestions were offered in
recent years. E. Mazar and Stiebel offered to identify the camp in the
Temple Mount and its south-west footsteps.8 Their proposal relied on

3 For coins, see Meshorer 1989; for bread-stamps, see Di Segni and weksler-Bdolah 2012; for
stamps of the Legio X Fretensis, see Geva 2003, inter alia.

4 See Arubas and Goldfus 2008a,1828–30, Levi and Be’eri 2011, inter alia.
5 Isaac 1990, 280, 427. 6 For other sources, see Isaac 1990, 427, footnote 5.
7 See Tsafrir 1999a, 124–35, and references there;Wilson 1905; Geva 1984;Weksler-Bdolah 2014a,
2020:19–42. Vincent and Abel 1914, planche 1.

8 See Mazar 2011:1–8; Stiebel 1995.
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findings that were exposed in B. Mazar’s excavations, especially a Roman
bathhouse, Roman latrines, and a group of ovens, identified as military
facilities.9 These structures were all located west of the Temple Mount, and
in my opinion they constituted an integral part of Aelia Capitolina, with no
boundary separating them from the eastern cardo and the decumanus – the
main streets of the Roman city that delineate this area in the north and in the
west.10 Mazar, and Stiebel relied on, among other things, the fact that the floor
of the hypocaust was built of bricks carrying the stamps of the Legio
X Fretensis, and the ovens weremade of broken pieces of bricks and fragments
of roof tiles, some of which bear the stamp impressions of the Tenth Legion.
However, building materials carrying the stamp of the Tenth Legion are not
a rare find in Jerusalem. They are widespread in Roman sites throughout
Jerusalem, and their wide distribution was explained as being produced by the
military and sold to all in the markets of Aelia Capitolina.11 The Legio
X Fretensis stamped building materials should be taken as a chronological
indicator of an occupation of the second through fourth centuries, more than
an indication of a military possession. Abramovich suggested that the camp
extended over the whole southern part of the Old City,12 between the current
western city wall, and the eastern Wall of the Temple Mount, including the
area of theOphel, to the south of the TempleMount. He relied on findings that
were exposed in recent excavations along the eastern cardo and the Great
Causeway in the area of the Western Wall Plaza.13 However, we suggested
identifying the main remains as belonging to Aelia Capitolina, and not to the
military camp.Alternatively, Bear suggested identifying the camp in the area of
the Muristan and the Church of the Holy Sepulchre, but this is a hypothetical
proposition. It is not based on historical evidence, and it is not substantiated by
any archaeological findings. The area is identified by all as the central forum of
Aelia Capitolina due to its central location near the intersection of the western
cardo and the decumanus of Aelia Capitolina, and the substantial remains of
the Roman period, including a public square, a decorative arch and monu-
mental remains of public buildings.14 Isaac reviewed the sources, noting that:
‘After the first Jewish revolt the headquarters of the legion X Fretensis were
established in the western part of the city, perhaps near the towers of Herod’s

9 See Mazar 2011: 11–84; 145–84; Reuven 2011; Stiebel 1995.
10 Weksler-Bdolah 2011: 227–8.
11 Tsafrir 1999a, 127–8; for a summary of the issue, see Weksler-Bdolah 2011: 301–7.
12 Abramovich 2012.
13 These excavations were directed by Onn and the author, and the findings shall be described, in

short, in the following.
14 See Bear 1993, 1994; Geva 1994b. For the archaeological remains, see summaries at Tsafrir

1999a: 151–2, Geva 1993:763; Mazor 2007, 118–19.
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palace, that one of them still stands’. Alternatively, he suggested, the military
base might have been at the TempleMount, or in the northern part of the city,
where no excavations were yet carried out. At Palmyra and Luxor, he added,
the Roman army established a military headquarters in a former sanctuary.15

As mentioned earlier, I support the traditional identification of the
south-western hill as the site of the Tenth Legion camp. In addition to
the historical testimony of Josephus, it is important to note the advanta-
geous topography of the south-western hill, which probably affected the
choice of the army. The south-western hill’s summit (heights) extends over
an area of about 20 to 25 hectares. It is the highest hill of Jerusalem, and it
has a more or less leveled and well drained surface, with the elevated
podium of Herod’s palace in the north-west (the Citadel, David’s tower,
and Armenian Garden today).Water supply was provided by the high-level
and low-level aqueducts of the Second Temple period that were recon-
structed and maintained throughout the Roman period. Thirty-one Latin
inscriptions that were engraved on the conduits of the high-level aqueduct
to Jerusalem – carrying a curvilinear sign, symbol of centurio or centuria,
followed by the name of the centurion in command – provide the Roman
dating and the military identity of the aqueduct’s repair.16

These qualities of the south-western hill assured good sanitation and
health to the soldiers and made it a site well suited to the needs of the army.

Without the archaeological evidence, however, it is not possible to
certainly verify the location of the camp. And in this regard, I would like
to add some notes.

In recent years, several archaeological remains of the Roman period, all
dated between the late first and the fourth centuries, were exposed throughout
the Old City of Jerusalem and in the Ophel. The new finds included segments
of thoroughfares, a bridge that carried a street towards the Temple Mount,
public buildings and private residences, all belonging to the civil colony of
Aelia Capitolina, its extramural neighbourhoods, or the military entourage.
Mapping down the remains that are now known allows a better understanding
of the topography and chronology of the Roman city.

I would like to suggest identifying the site of the camp, not necessarily on
the basis of its architectural remains (that are quite meager), but more on the
basis of the clear differences between the layout of the remains in the suggested
site of the camp, on one hand, and the remains within the limits of Aelia
Capitolina on the other. The summit of the south-western hill was indeed
settled in the Roman period, but it is almost bare of architectural remains and

15 Isaac 1990:279–80; Isaac 1990:427. 16 Vetrali 1968; Di Segni 2002:40–7.
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has no urban characteristics whatsoever, while the area lying in the northern
and south-eastern parts of theOld City, within the limits of Aelia Capitolina, is
indicative of its orthogonal, well-developed urban layout.

Laying out the remains (of the late first to late fourth centuries) allows us
to reconstruct the development of the military camp and Aelia Capitolina
in four subsequent phases (Figs. 17.1–17.4):

1. In 70 CE the military camp was founded in the area of the former,
Herodian, ‘Upper City’ (Fig. 17.1). A civilian settlement (canabae legio-
nis) was probably established outside the walls of the fortress,17 but its
archaeological remains are unknown.

2. Around 120/130 the Roman city of Aelia Capitolina was founded next to
the camp, in the northern and south-eastern areas of the Old City. The
huge Temenos of the Temple Mount was included within the Roman
city (Fig. 17.2).

3. Following the departure of the legio X Fretensis and the abandonment
of the military camp, and especially following the Christianization of
Jerusalem in the early fourth century in the Constantinian Age, the
south-eastern extramural hill was inhabited, and several private court-
yard houses were built.18 The abandoned camp, in the south-western
hill, remained walled and empty for several years (Fig. 17.3).

4. The abandoned camp in the south-western hill, now called ‘Zion’, was
finally inhabited in the second half of the fourth century (Fig. 17.4). Several
streets, churches andmonasteries were built around the south-western hill,
especially in the fifth and sixth centuries.19 The ‘emptiness’ of Zion, due to
its military past, made the Christian penetration easier, especially if com-
pared to the rest of the city. Finally, around 400–50 CE, a city wall depicted
in theMadaba map was built, encompassing the areas of the civil colony of
Aelia Capitolina, the south-western hill of Zion, and the south-eastern hill.
Scholars disagree on the date of the wall’s construction, but do agree that
the wide contour of the wall, as seen in the Madaba map, is Byzantine in
date (that is, between Constantine and Justinian). The construction of the
wall ‘ended’ the physical growth of the city’s territory.

Following is a short description of the archaeological remains that allow
such a reconstruction. Emphasis is given to the findings related to the camp
and the Roman city. Remains that were described and discussed in research

17 Wilson 1905, 141–2; and others.
18 See: Gordon 2007, Ben Ami and Chachnowetz 2013, Crowfoot and Fitzgerald 1929 inter alia.
19 See Tsafrir 1999b:303–21, 2012, Avigad 1980:228–46, Gutfeld 2012, inter alia.
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literature in the past are described in short.20 New findings are portrayed in
greater detail.

Figure 17.1 The camp of the X Fretensis, the TempleMount, and the bridge connecting
them in the early second century CE. The author’s proposal. Drawing: Natalya Zak.
Courtesy of the Israel Antiquities Authority.

20 For comprehensive descriptions of the archaeological finds of the Roman period in Jerusalem,
see Tsafrir 1999a, Geva 1993, Weksler-Bdolah 2020: 51–130, inter alia.
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Figure 17.2 The city of Aelia Capitolina and the military camp in the second and third
centuries CE. The author’s proposal. Drawing: Natalya Zak. Based on data from Tsafrir
1999a, plan; Geva 1993, plan; Gordon 2007, fig. 1; Weksler-Bdolah 2014c, fig. 1.
Courtesy of the Israel Antiquities Authority.
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Figure 17.3 Jerusalem/Aelia in the mid fourth century. The author’s proposal.
Drawing: Natalya Zak. The south-eastern hill being settled with courtyard houses; the
abandoned camp in the south-western hill is still walled. Courtesy of the Israel
Antiquities Authority.
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Figure 17.4 Jerusalem/Aelia around 450 CE. The author’s proposal. Drawing: Natalya
Zak. A wide circumference wall surrounds the city, encompassing the area of Aelia
Capitolina, the south-western hill of Zion, and the south-eastern hill. The Martyrium
and Anastasis (the Church of the Holy Sepulchre), the Church of Holy Zion, the
Church of St. Mary of the Probatica and the Siloam Church were built. Courtesy of the
Israel Antiquities Authority.
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1 70 CE to Late Third Century: Legio X Fretensis Camp’s Site
(Fig. 17.1)

Permanent camps of the Roman army were preferably established in sites
having topographic and strategic advantages, good water supply and good
drainage, providing better health over time for the soldiers staying there.
Indeed, the south-western hill of Jerusalem fits these requirements. The
testimony of Josephus (BJ 7.1–2) further supports the western location,
indicating that sections of the old fortifications in the western side of the
city were left intact for the defense of the army.

The Camp’s Fortifications and Related Structures

Identification of the camp’s fortifications is a difficult challenge to the
researchers of Jerusalem, and until now, no remains were attributed with
certainty to these defenses. However, a re-examination of sections of walls,
towers, a moat, steep natural cliffs and even the structure of a gate,
described in the past along the route that I think delimited the camp, allows
offering carefully that these remains are indeed contemporaneous and were
incorporated into the line of defenses that surrounded the military camp. It
is difficult to prove this assumption, though, as most of the remains were
documented in the late nineteenth to early twentieth centuries, and there is
no secure dating for them. Recent excavations in some nearby locations
shed light on this issue.

The camp’s fortifications in the north and west consisted of sections of
earlier fortifications, the ‘FirstWall’ of the Second Temple period, that were
repaired and incorporated into a continuous line surrounding the camp
area. Yet the northern line of the First Wall was abandoned several years
before 70 CE, and the state of its remains in 70 CE is unknown.

A probable gate structure that was exposed in the past might be sug-
gested as part of the Camp’s northern gate. This is an arched entrance
(3.2 m wide, 4.5 m high) that was exposed on the eastern side of Chabad
Street, opposite its intersection with St. Mark Street (Fig. 17.1:1).21 The
opening is incorporated in a wall that continues from north to south and
was interpreted as an indirect entrance gate, incorporated in a wall running
from east to west. Warren identified it as the Second Temple period
Gennath Gate, mentioned by Flavius Josephus (BJ 5.146), but most
researchers believe that the gate was later than the Second Temple period,

21 Wilson and Warren 1871, 274–86; Warren and Conder 1884, 234–5.
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and the estimated time of its construction was Roman or Byzantine.Wilson
suggested that it is not earlier than the fifth or sixth century CE, while
Vincent assumed that it is a tower gate in the wall of the camp of X Fretensis
when the camp extended over the whole summit of the south-western hill,
70–130 CE. Tsafrir suggested that the gate was an Early Islamic
construction.22 The gate is sometimes referred as the Gennath Gate or
the café Bashoura Gate.

Cafe Bashourah is a square café hall (8 × 8 m) located in the center of the
Old City, near the intersection of David–es-Silsilah with Chabad–Jewish
Street. At the center of the café there are four monolithic columns arranged
in a square (4.5 × 4.5 m, Fig. 17.5) and it had been proposed that they
preserved a monument, presumably a tetrapylon, adorning the intersection
of the main streets of the Roman city. 23 A few meters to the south-south-
west of the café hall, on the east side of Chabad Street, the gate structure
discussed previously is located. Vincent rightly (in my view) identified it as
a northern gate of the X Fretensis military camp and considered the

Figure 17.5 Café Bashourah: Four monolithic columns arranged in a square.
Photographed by the author.

22 See Wilson 1906, 136–7; Vincent and Abel 1914, Planche 1; Vincent and Steve 1954, 54–6, Fig.
17; Tsafrir 1975, 60–5, 317–18. For a summary, see Gutfeld 2012, 23–5 and subsequent
discussion.

23 See: Germer-Durand 1892, Tsafrir 1999a: plan of Jerusalem in the fourth century.
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structure of the gate, and the café as belonging to one compound (25 ×
15 m), named in short ‘The gate of Bashoura’.24 Wilson too, in his sug-
gested plan of the camp of the Tenth Legion at Jerusalem, placed the
northern gate of the camp exactly in this spot.25

The columns in the center of café Bashourah preserve, in my opinion,
a monument, possibly, as suggested before, a tetrapylon. However, I believe
that this monument was actually marking the ‘starting point’ of the ways
and roads that led out from the Camp’s gate to the north, east and west.
Some of these roads were paved immediately after 70 CE (i.e., the road
leading north, the road leading east; see the following), and their starting
point was obviously connected to the camp of the X Fretensis. The monu-
ment under discussion (tetrapylon?) possibly stood in the center of a small
square outside the camp’s gate. At first (after 70 CE), it was standing just
outside the northern gate of the military camp. Then (following the foun-
dation of the Roman City), it stood in the intersection, between the military
camp and the civil city, and finally, after the soldiers abandoned the camp
grounds, and the area of the camp was attached to the civilian city, this spot
was located at the center of the city, at the intersection of the main streets –
the cardo and the decumanus (Fig. 17.2).

About 40 m west of the ‘Bashoura Gate’, in the Lutheran hostel, along
the northern side of St. Mark Street, two towers and a 30 m long wall
section between themwere recorded in the late nineteenth century.26 It was
believed that this section of wall and towers belongs to the Camp’s northern
wall (Fig. 17.1:2).

Further to the west, near the north-western corner of the First Wall,
stands the Tower of David, now combined in the wall of the Citadel. The
Tower of David is usually recognized as either the Phazael or the
Hippicus Tower, two of the three towers built by King Herod north of
his palace, along the ‘First Wall’ (Josephus, BJ 5.161–9 176). The tower
might have been incorporated in the defense of the north-western
corner of the camp. South of the Tower of David, some sections of the
‘First Wall’ were revealed, with square towers protruding to the west.
The curved contour of the NW corner is typical of Roman military
camps. A thickening of the ‘First Wall’ that has been identified in the
Citadel might represent the Roman restoration of the First Wall, after 70
CE (Fig. 17.1:3).27

24 Vincent and Steve 1954, 54–6, Fig. 17; Gutfeld 2012:24. 25 Wilson 1905, 140.
26 Vincent and Steve 1954, 54–6, Fig. 17; Tsafrir 1975, 55–60; Tsafrir 1999a, 131–2.
27 Amiran and Eitan 1970, 15; Tsafrir 1999a, 131.
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Other sections of the First Wall were discovered south of the Citadel,
along the western side of the Ottoman city wall (Fig. 17.1:4),28 and
further south. In mount Zion, approximately 200 m south of the south-
west corner of the old city wall, Maudsley documented a hewn cliff
continuing from north to south, then turning south-east and continuing
another 150 m along a straight axis, ending in a prominent tower in the
south-east corner, (Fig. 17.1:6).29 Hewn towers are protruding off the
cliff’s face, and fallen ashlars were documented along its foothills. The
cliff and the towers were considered as belonging to a section of the
‘First Wall’ that was destroyed in 70 CE. A massive, towerlike structure
(8 × 4 m), located a few meters away from the edge of the southern cliff
of Mount Zion, slightly north of the southernmost tower (Bliss and
Dickie’s Tower AB), was recently re-excavated (Fig. 17.1:7).30 This tower
might be part of the fortifications of the camp. The structure was
documented in the late nineteenth century by Conder, and again by
Abel. The external southern wall (8 m long) and the western wall (4 m
long) are built of large ashlars, some of which are reused Herodian
stones, with drafted margins along their faces. The structure appears to
be later than Herodian, and earlier than the Byzantine period, thus
a Roman date may be suggested. The strategic advantage of its promin-
ent location is clear.

From tower AB in the south-east, a hewn mote that was partly
documented in the past is running north-east, around the summit of
Mount Zion, disconnecting it from the lower slopes of the hill.31 Bliss
and Dickie, followed by others, suggested that the mote was of medieval
age, but ditches and motes were used as defenses in many Roman camps,
and there is a possibility that the mote is part of the camp’s fortifications.
The steep slopes of the south-western hill were recently revealed further
north in an excavation conducted in the north-west of the Western Wall
Plaza (Fig. 17.1:8).32 It became evident that the natural steep slopes of the
western hill were accentuated in quarrying operations during the First
and the Second Temple periods. It would be reasonable to assume that
the Roman Legion took advantage of this physical structure and settled

28 Broshi and Gibson 1994.
29 The remains were described by Conder 1875(1,2), plan opposite p. 82; and Bliss and Dickie

1898, 2–4, general plan no. 1.
30 Conder 1875 (1); Abel 1911, 122–3, Angle de muraille, Fig. 1:B. The renewed excavations, on

behalf of the IAA in December 2015, were directed by Neria Sapir (IAA weekly newsletter, no.
4615, 31.12.2015). I would like to thank Neria Sapir and Amit Reem of the IAA for the
information.

31 Bliss and Dickie 1898, Plan 1. 32 Weksler-Bdolah 2014b.
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over the hill, protected by the steep slopes. It seems that, as in the
southern part, some kind of fortification was built in the head of the
rock cliff, or slightly away from it, but the remains of such a wall were
not revealed

In conclusion, the remains that might constitute the defenses of the
camp include a possible gate tower in the center of the northern side,
sections of walls, and towers, including the Tower of David in the north-
west, a hewn cliff, and protruding towers in the south and steep cliffs along
the eastern side. This line of fortifications enclosed the camp, and separated
it from the city. The walls were not designed to defend the camp from
enemies and were therefore not massive. Such a separation wall between
camp and city is known from other sites in the eastern part of the Roman
Empire, such as Dura Europos, Palmyra, and Bostra, sites in which the
army was based near existing cities, or inside them.33 The reasonable
suggestion to identify the ‘Wall of Sion’ (murum Sion), in the itinerary of
the Bordeaux Pilgrim (dated to 333 CE), with the Walls of the legionary
camp34 indicates that long sections of the walls of the camp were still
standing long after the camp was abandoned in the late third century.

The outline of the south-western hill apparently dictated the irregular
polygonal shape of the Tenth Legion camp. Following Wilson, most
researchers prefer to restore the camp as a rectangle, relying on the usual
outline of camps.35 However, there are examples of polygon-shaped camps,
which were established in accordance with the site’s topography (e.g. Camp
F of the Masada siege, and others)36 – allowing such a reconstruction.

A difficulty arising from the reconstruction of the camp as extending
around the whole summit of the south-western hill, includingMount Zion,
relates to the view identifying Mount Zion as the holy center of the Jewish
and Christian communities living outside Aelia Capitolina in the Roman
period. 37 No church or synagogue could have been built here – had the
area been included within the Legionary fortress.

However, recent excavations in the burial chamber of David’s Tomb
(below) showed the structure was not built prior to the late fourth century,
excluding its identification with a synagoguementioned in the early fourth-
century sources.

33 Isaac 1990,119–60 and references there. 34 Hamilton 1952, 86; Tsafrir 1999a, 165.
35 Wilson 1906, 142–5.
36 For Camp F, see Arubas and Goldfus 2008b, 1938–9. For other polygonal camps, see

Collingwood 1930, 7–9, fig. 1.
37 See Tsafrir 1999a:159–60 and references there.
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Structures, Roads and Installations inside the Camp

The camp site was presumably crossed by two roads, leading from the café
Bashoura Gate in the north to south and from east to west (usually identi-
fied as the via principalis and the via praetoria). Wilson suggested recon-
structing the longitude road, which he named via principalis along the
route of the later Byzantine Cardo.38 The remains of the military road are
unknown today, but it is likely in my opinion that the southern section of
the western cardo indeed followed the military route.

Poor remains of buildings and installations of the Roman period that
were exposed in the areas of the south-western hill provide evidence that
the hill was inhabited during the period in question. The finds were
summarized in detail previously.39 They include remains of a structure
and clay pipes, bearing the stamp of the X Fretensis, in the courtyard of
the Citadel (Fig. 17.1:3), and hundreds of broken pieces of roof tiles,
pipes, and bricks bearing the legion’s stamp in all excavated areas in the
south-western hill, in the Armenian Garden (Fig. 17.1:5), and in the
Jewish Quarter, indicating the existence of structures that were not
preserved. 40

A few remains that have been exposed in recent years add to our
knowledge:

Short sections of two water canals that were dated to the Roman period
(post 70 CE) were exposed in the Kishle Compound, immediately south of
the Citadel, inside Jaffa Gate, near the remains of Herod’s palace.
According to the excavator, these canals might be part of the infrastructure
of the Roman camp.41

The Assyrian Church of St. Mark

In the courtyard of the Assyrian Church of St. Mark, in the Armenian
Quarter (Fig. 17.1:10, approximately 200 m east of the Citadel, 40 mwest of
the western cardo), two walls were partly exposed, apparently creating the
north-western corner of a structure, or a room in a larger structure.42 The
walls (2–2.5 m in length, width unknown) were exposed along their inner

38 Wilson 1905, 140. 39 Tsafrir 1999a, 124–8, Geva 1993, 758–67.
40 For the citadel, see Johns 1950; Amiran and Eitan 1970; Geva 1994a, 163. For the Armenian

Garden, see Tushingham 1985, and for the Jewish Quarter, see Geva 2003.
41 Re’em 2011, 100.
42 I thank the excavator on behalf of the IAA, Ron Lavi, for the information and the authorization

to cite it. The material is currently being processed and will be published in the future. The
pottery was identified by Debora Sandhaus and Renate Rosenthal-Heginbottom.
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faces only. They are built of roughly hewn fieldstones, arranged in homo-
genous courses, and were preserved to a height of more than a meter well
above their foundations. The walls were sealed by a thick white gravel-like
layer, containing potsherds of the fourth century. Below this layer, between
the walls, there was a stratified earthen fill, containing fragments of pottery
vessels from the Roman period, and at the bottom of the excavation, there
was a fill, mixed with ash, containing fragments of the Early Roman,
Second Temple period. The finds seem to date the walls to the Roman
period (second to fourth centuries). The limited size of the excavation does
not allow drawing a full plan of the building. However, the western wall of
the corner exposed now is located about 25 m to the south of a similar wall,
25 m long from north to south, that was exposed in Area R of Avigad’s
excavations (Fig. 17.1:9).43 Might these walls be part of the camp’s
barracks?

Approximately 80 m south-west of the Assyrian Church of St. Mark,
an excavation inside a building on the southern side of Or HaHayim
Street, near Arrarat Street, revealed a Roman stratum consisting of short
segments of walls (along an east–west axis) and fragmented floor sec-
tions (Fig. 17.1:11). Earthen fills containing a multitude of potsherds
dating from the Roman period (second to third centuries CE) and roof
tiles bearing the stamp of the Legion X Fretensis were also recovered.44

The architectural remains were severely damaged during later periods.
Nevertheless, they indicate a Roman presence here in the second to
fourth centuries.

The Jewish Quarter

Another finding that highlights the presence of Romans, probably soldiers,
on the south-western hill in the late first/early second century is a group of
more than ten complete, or nearly complete pottery vessels that were
discovered in a cistern of the Second Temple period, in Area F of the
Jewish Quarter Excavations directed by Avigad (Fig. 17.1:14). Some of the
vessels, including bowls and oil lamps, were published by Avigad as
belonging to the Second Temple period. A re-examination of the vessels
by R. Rosenthal-Heginbottom revealed that some of themweremade in the
kilns of the Tenth Legion in Binyanei-ha’Ummah, and others were similar
to those found at the Roman dump that was exposed below the pavement of

43 For the plan, see Geva 1993, 730.
44 The excavation (A-8088/2017), conducted on behalf of the Israel Antiquities Authority in

2017–18, was directed by the author. A report of the finds will be published in the ‘Atiqot series.
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the Eastern Cardo (below). The date of the assemblage of vessels is between
70 and 130 CE.45

In area N in Avigad’s excavations, east of the Hurva synagogue, about 50m
east of the western cardo, the corner of a large building whose nature is
unknown was discovered (Fig. 17.1:13). The walls are 9.5 m long, and
1.7–2 m wide, with no internal division. Between the walls there was an
earthen fill containing fragments of pottery vessels dating to the Roman period
(second to fourth centuries). It may be assumed that the discussed corner is
a foundation of a large building of the Roman period that was not preserved.46

In Omer St., in the Jewish Quarter, approximately 100 m east of the axis
of the western cardo, a part of a plastered, large installation, presumably
a pool, with a bench built along its side, was exposed (Fig. 17.1:12).47 The
excavators suggested it was possibly part of a bathhouse. A ceramic pipe
covered with tiles bearing the stamp of the Tenth Legion was part of the
construction of the pool, dating its construction to the period of Aelia
Capitolina, second to fourth centuries CE.

Roman Refuse Dump on the Slopes of the South-Western Hill

An indirect evidence regarding the presence of Roman soldiers west of the
Temple Mount, possibly at the south-western hill, was recently revealed in
the excavations along the eastern cardo, in the north-west part of theWestern
Wall Plaza (Fig. 17.6). The cardo’s course here was hewn across the slopes of
the south-western hill, along a north–south direction (Fig. 17.7). The
excavations exposed an accumulation of refuse dump in a deep abandoned
quarry pit (extending over an area of approximately 9 × 5 meters, 3.5 m
deep) that was located along the route of the street and had to be filled up
and leveled prior to the paving itself. The filling material (i.e. the dump) was
presumably brought from a nearby military dump, containing organic
material that was burned on the site itself. The dump was rich in artifacts
that possibly originated in the military camp. The main findings were three
military bread-stamps, two complete and one broken (Fig. 17.8), and a very
rich and varied assemblage of broken pottery vessels (Fig. 17.9:1–3). Many
vessels were produced in the kilns of the X Fretensis in Binyanei-ha’Ummah,
and along with them there were vessels made in the local traditions prevalent
in Jerusalem before the destruction of the Second Temple, as well as
imported vessels, including amphorae, lamps and fine tableware. Of the

45 Avigad 1980: illustrations 233, 252; Rosenthal-Heginbottom 2015, Figs. 1b, 5, inter alia. For the
plan see Geva 1993, 730.

46 Geva 2014, 100–6, Str. 1b. 47 Sion and Rapuano 2014; Rapuano 2014, 428–31.
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faunal remains, pigs constitute the most common species, constituting over
60 per cent of the finds, and the bones were assigned to domesticated piglets –
a hallmark of Roman military diet. The dump, dated to 70–130 CE, obviously
belonged to Roman soldiers, indicating their presence in the vicinity of the
find spot. The importance of the finding stems from the fact that this was the
first time that a sealed assemblage of finds clearly attributed to the Roman
army, and dated to 70–130 CE, was unearthed in Jerusalem.48

Aside from the Roman findings, the dump contained also findings that
derived from private houses (e.g. fragments of stone vessels and fragments
of frescoes), typical of the Herodian houses of the Upper City. It can
therefore be assumed that the findings derived from the clearing of col-
lapsed buildings of the Second Temple period, along with refuse of soldiers
and officers who stayed on the summit of the south-western hill.

Figure 17.6 EasternCardo in theWesternWall Plaza, looking northeast. January 2009.
In lower part – flagstones of the cardo. In lower left – remains of a seventh century BCE
(Iron Age) building, sealed beneath the Roman street’s pavement. Photographed by the
author. Courtesy of the Israel Antiquities Authority.

48 SeeWeksler-Bdolah 2014b, 54–6. For the bread-stamps, see Di Segni andWeksler-Bdolah 2012;
for the pottery finds, see Rosenthal-Heginbottom 2015; 2019; Weksler-Bdolah and Rosenthal-
Heginbottom 2014, 48–58; for the faunal finds, see Kolska-Horwitz in press.
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The dump was probably brought to the abandoned quarry from a nearby
dump site of the military camp, possibly located on the slopes of the south-
western hill. If this is so, it sheds light on the probable location of the camp itself
up the hill.

Mount Zion: David’s Tomb (Fig. 17.1:15)

Limited excavations were undertaken recently by the Israel Antiquities
Authority in the burial chamber of ‘David’s Tomb’ in Mount Zion. A coin
of the late fourth century in the core of the external wall of the building, as well
as potsherds of a similar date, that were exposed under the lower floor that
abutted the wall, allow establishing a late fourth century terminus post quem
for the construction of the building. In the opinion of the excavator, the

Figure 17.7 Eastern Cardo in the Western Wall Plaza, looking south-west. A rock-
hewn cliff runs along the west side of the street. Hewn cells (probably shops) are carved
at the bottom of the cliff, and structures of the Jewish Quarter are built atop it. In the
lower-right corner – remains of a seventh century BCE (Iron Age) building, sealed
under the Roman street’s pavement. Left – flagstones and portico of the Roman cardo.
Photographed by the author. Courtesy of the Israel Antiquities Authority.
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building was probably related to the Church of Hagia Sion in the Byzantine
period, but some architectural elements (fragments of columns and
a Corinthian capital) that were exposed in the excavation in a secondary use
might originate in a Roman structure that stood nearby and was not
preserved.49

Other remains of the Roman period (second to fourth centuries), includ-
ing small segments of a floor of rectangular stone slabs and a set of drainage
channels, were recently discovered approximately 60–70 m south-east of the
tomb of David, in the Mount Zion lower parking lot (Fig. 17.1:16).50 The
remains were dated to the Roman period, but it was not possible to
determine whether they were part of a private residence, or anything public.

(a)

(b)

Figure 17.8 Bread stamp from the Roman dump: (Centuria) Caspe(rii), (Opus)
Canin(ii). (Century) of Casperius. (Work) of Caninius (photos by Clara Amit; reading
by Leah Di Segni): (a) stamp’s sealing surface; (b) stamp’s long side. Courtesy of the
Israel Antiquities Authority.

49 Reem 2013, 240. 50 Sapir 2015.
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A Roman Bridge Connecting the Slopes of the South-Western Hill and the
Temple Mount

The Great Causeway, whose remains were investigated recently, is a long,
arched Roman bridge, lying under es-Silsilah Street, west of the Temple

(a) (b)

(c)

Figure 17.9 Finds from the Roman dump along the Eastern Cardo (photos by Clara
Amit): (a) fragment of Broneer Type XXI lamp, with left-harnessed horse-head volute
preserved; (b) wall fragment of drinking vessel, showing seated male figure in a pensive
mood, identified as Saturn; (c) fragment of mold-made jug handle, decorated with
Dionysiac motifs: the head of an old satyr, a panther and a bowl of fruit. After
Rosenthal-Heginbottom 2019, Cat. nos 747(a), 828(b), 841(c). Courtesy of the Israel
Antiquities Authority.
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Mount.51 The findings that were revealed may suggest that as early as the
late first century, or the early second century, and even before the founding
of Aelia Capitolina during Hadrian’s reign, a narrow, long, arched bridge
(the northern row of arches in the structure of the Great Causeway) was
constructed west of the Temple Mount.52 The entire structure of the Great
Causeway includes the monumental Wilson’s Arch that is integrated in the
WesternWall of the Temple Mount, and two rows of arches that were built
west of Wilson’s Arch: the northern row was built first, and the southern
row later, abutting it. Both rows are founded on a 14 m-wide dam wall that
was built across the Tyropoeon valley in the Second Temple period. The
northern bridge (some 80 m long, about 6 m wide) ran across the
Tyropoeon Valley and was presumably incorporated into a narrow road
that connected the slopes of the south-western hill, with the ruins of the
Temple Mount (Figs. 17.1:17, 17.10). The construction of the bridge was
dated between 70 and 130 CE, indicating that immediately after 70 CE,
soldiers started cleaning and leveling the surface of the wide dam wall in
order to construct the bridge upon it. Fallen stones, broken stone vessels, and
potsherds of the Second Temple period, the remains of the destruction of 70
CE, were removed into plastered installations of the Second Temple period
(one of which was identified as a ritual bath) that were hewn into the surface
of the dam wall, probably during the Great Revolt of the Jews against the

Figure 17.10 Author’s proposed reconstruction of the military camp, the ruins of the
Temple Mount and the bridge connecting them in the early second century CE. The
outline of the bridge is generally based on the findings of the excavations. The
restoration of the camp and the Temple Mount are for illustration purposes only.
Drafting: Yaakov Shmidov. Courtesy of the Israel Antiquities Authority.

51 Onn, Weksler-Bdolah and Bar Nathan 2011. 52 Weksler-Bdolah 2014c, 192–5, fig. 2.
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Romans. Two Roman furnaces, perhaps used for smelting metal, that were
constructed on top of the damwall, after its surfaces were cleared and leveled,
are testimony to the type of activity carried out on the spot.

It seems that at this stage, when the Tenth Legion established its camp on
the south-western hill, soldiers began clearing the area around the camp
and installing access roads to and from the camp. One road that the bridge
in question was incorporated into ran across the Tyropoeon Valley leading
east to the TempleMount. Another road was presumably paved at the same
stage, as indicated by the two Flavian milestones, carrying the names of
Vespasian and Titus, that were discovered, in secondary use, near
Robinson’s Arch.53

The construction of the bridge indicates the importance of the Temple
Mount in the eyes of the Roman soldiers despite the fact that the Jewish
Temple was destroyed, and parts of the Temenos walls dismantled. Possible
reasons for that could be the following:

1. Obviously, the Temple Mount was still rising high and noticeable above
its surroundings. From the heights of the complex, and certainly from
the south-east corner there was a good strategic control of the environ-
ment, especially towards the East. It is likely that the soldiers were
patrolling the Temple Mount regularly, perhaps even establishing
a military outpost for observation somewhere on the mountain.

2. In addition, it is unlikely that the Romans ignored the ruins of the Jewish
Temple that were still standing in the center of the compound and
attracted visitors (Jews and others). Under these conditions, it is con-
ceivable that the Romans sought to demonstrate their presence in the
Temple Mount, if only to highlight their victory and supremacy.

3. Another option with due caution is that the Roman presence on the
Temple Mount was also associated with the recognition of the site as
holy, if only because of tradition identifying it as such for over
a thousand years. In this context it is possible to suggest that the decision
of Hadrian, a few years later, to build a temple to Jupiter on the Temple
Mount (Cassius Dio, Roman History, 69, 12), was due to the same
reasons. In Carthage, too, the Roman Capitolium was constructed on
the ruins of the Punic Temple.54

All in all – the findings that are known around the south-western hill allows
the conclusion that the south-western hill was indeed inhabited, and forti-
fied soon after the destruction of the Upper City of Herodian Jerusalem, in

53 Isaac and Gichon 1974; Reich and Bilig 2003. 54 Rakob 2000, 79.
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70 CE. Interestingly, no structures in good state of preservation were
preserved on the summit of the hill and the whole appearance of the area
seems quite poor, standing in contrast to the orthogonal, well preserved
state of the Roman city (below).

2 Aelia Capitolina (Second to Third/Early Fourth Century)

By the time that Aelia Capitolina was founded, the south-western hill was
already occupied by the military camp, and the Roman city was built north
and east of the camp, in relativelymoderate areas (Fig. 17.2). As noted earlier,
it is likely that themilitary campwas surrounded by a wall, while the limits of
the city were marked with freestanding city gates, set along the roads that led
out from the military camp.55 The starting point of these roads was probably
located immediately outside the northern gate of the camp and marked by
a tetrapylon (described previously in the café Bashoura area). That monu-
ment was now set in the center of Aelia Capitolina (below).

The orthogonal layout of Aelia Capitolina was shaped with a grid net-
work of streets that were parallel and perpendicular to each other. The
main, central streets were somewhat wider than the rest and had porticos
along their sides. The orthogonal layout of the Roman city is reflected in the
Madaba mosaic map of the sixth century,56 and is actually preserved in the
urban topography of the old city of Jerusalem to our own days.

Two colonnaded thoroughfares, identified as the eastern and western
cardines of the Roman city, run across the city in a north–south axis. Both
streets start in an oval square that is partly known today inside and under
the Ottoman Damascus Gate. The eastern cardo (its flagstones were
revealed in many places along el-Wad, ha’Gai Street) runs along the
Tyropoeon valley, in a north-west–south-east direction, and approximately
opposite the corner of the Temple Mount, it turns south and continues in
a straight line, parallel to the western wall of the Temple enclosure, towards
a presumed gate in the area of the current Dung Gate. The western cardo,
whose remains were documented 400 m along Khan ez-Zeit Street (Fig.
17.11), runs from the oval square inside the Damascus Gate directly south,
towards the presumed northern gate of the military camp, in the area of the
Café Bashoura, located today in the center of the Old City.57 The decuma-
nus runs from the western city gate, in the area of Jaffa Gate, eastward. It

55 Mazor 2004, 112–19; 2007, 120–2. 56 Avi-Yonah 1954.
57 Johns 1948:94; Weksler-Bdolah 2011, 56–8, figs. 52–8.
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runs along David street (towards Café Bashoura), and from there, along el-
Silsila street, towards the Temple Mount. North of the Temple Mount,
remains of another street were exposed in the route of the Via Dolorosa.
Some identify it as the northern decumanus, running from the Eastern gate,
in the site of the Lion’s Gate, towards the eastern cardo in the west.

Along the main streets, remains of urban squares, monumental arches
decorating the squares, and a variety of buildings typical of a Roman city are
known (Fig. 17.2 and subsequent discussion).58 The monumental appearance
of the Roman city, and the good state of its preservation, are exhibited in the
findings of the easternCardo that was exposed along the north-western side of
the WesternWall Plaza; and the Great Causeway – the bridge that carried the
decumanus, from the west, eastwards towards the Temple Mount, and was
recently investigated along the northern side of the same Plaza (Fig. 17.12).59

Figure 17.11 Flagstones of theWestern Cardo along Khan ez-Zeit street, looking south
(Source: Archives of the Israel Antiquities Authority, the British Mandate files, 1947.
Jerusalem, Muslim quarter A2, Volume 101, photograph 38812). Courtesy of the Israel
Antiquities Authority.

58 See Tsafrir 1999a; Geva 1993, inter alia.
59 For the cardo, see Weksler-Bdolah 2014b, 2020:74–96; for the causeway, see Onn, Weksler-

Bdolah, and Bar-Nathan 2011, Weksler-Bdolah 2020:97.
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A 50 m-long segment of the eastern cardo was exposed in the Western
Wall Plaza (Figs. 17.6, 17.7). The colonnaded street consisted of
a carriageway (8 m wide), lined on both sides with an elevated sidewalk
(1.5 m wide), and a further elevated portico (6.5 m wide). The carriageway
was paved with large flagstones of the local Mizzi Hilu limestone, laid
diagonally across the street’s route. The sidewalks were paved with similar
flagstones, laid parallel along the street. The appearance of the 24 m-wide
street is monumental. The latest coin from beneath the pavement of the
street was Hadrianic, indicating that the street was not paved prior to the
Hadrianic reign. Along the western side of the street, there was a row of

Figure 17.12 Great Causeway – Eastern Cardo – plan based on the excavation findings.
Drafting: Vadim Essman, Natalya Zak. Courtesy of the Israel Antiquities Authority.

The Camp of the Legion X Fretensis 325

https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009256193.018 Published online by Cambridge University Press

https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009256193.018


shops, and along its eastern side, remains of two streets heading east.
A monumental gateway (propylaea) between these two streets is probably
part of a public building that was not exposed.

In the section that was exposed now, the cardo’s route ran across the
slope of the south-western hill, paralleling the Western Wall of the Temple
Mount. Its surface sloped gently from north to south. The route of the
cardo was hewn and lowered to adjust the street’s level, creating a vertical
cliff, 11 m high, along the western side of the street. This cliff separated the
hill, where the military supposedly camped, from the civilian sphere of
the colonnaded street. In the northern section of the street exposed now,
the flagstones were laid on top of remains of older buildings (i.e. an Iron
Age building), as well as on top of the Roman dump that was brought to the
site in order to fill the pit of an abandoned quarry (described previously).

North of the Western Wall Plaza, the investigation of the Great
Causeway revealed that during the Hadrianic reign, or slightly later, the
narrow bridge that was constructed between the slopes of the south-
western hill and the Temple Mount in 70–130 CE was widened with
another row of arches. The later, southern row of arches abutted the
northern row, and on top of both rows, flagstones of a street were laid.
The street, recognized as the decumanus, a main street in the new Roman
City, ran across the Tyropoeon valley and above the eastern cardo, leading
towards the Temple Mount (Figs. 17.12, 17.13).

Figure 17.13 Great Causeway, carrying the decumanus, and the Eastern Cardo,
reconstruction based on the excavation findings. Drafting: Yaakov Shmidov. Courtesy
of the Israel Antiquities Authority.
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Recent excavations enabled a glimpse into the buildings that adorned the
Roman city. Remains of a well-built, large complex of public buildings of
the Roman period were exposed south of the Great Causeway, extending all
the way between the Temple Mount and the eastern cardo. The walls of the
Roman buildings are standing at present 10 m high. The eastern section of
the building contained a public latrine of the Roman period, which might
have been part of a larger Roman bathhouse (Fig. 17.12).60

The western section of the Roman building (Fig. 17.12) was partly exca-
vated recently. One of the stones of its northern wall (facing north) carries an
inscription of the X Fretensis. Bahat thought that the stone was in a secondary
use,61 while Eck suggested it was in situ (CIIP, 1, 2, 725). The inner parts of this
section are constructed of hewn ashlars with a monumental appearance. The
date of this building is not known yet, though a Roman date might be
postulated (the excavations reached a secondary, Early Islamic stratum inside
this building, and did not proceed further).62

In the northern part of the Old City, about 20 m north of Via Dolorosa
St. and 50 m east of the eastern cardo’s route (el-Wad street), within the
current compound of the ‘Austrian Hospice’, the upper part of walls and
arches that supported a flat roof – belonging, presumably, to a square
courtyard of a building, surrounded by rooms – were exposed.63 The
small finds within the fills that sealed the building were dated to the fourth
century, implying that the building, possibly a private building in Aelia
Capitolina, was built not later than the fourth century.

Summing up, the examination and mapping of all known remains of the
Roman period in the area of the Old City show that the Roman city was
designed according to the Roman orthogonal tradition. However, prominent
remains of the Herodian city, such as the Temple Mount, were integrated in
the urban plan.

Discussion

A re-examination of the remains of the Roman period that are known
around the Old City of Jerusalem at present shows chronological

60 Bahat 2013, 169, plan 6.06; 174, Fig. 6.21; Onn, Weksler-Bdolah, and Bar Nathan 2011.
61 Bahat 2013, 43.
62 I wish to thank the excavators, Peter Gendelman and Ortal Chalaf of the IAA, for the

information. A general description was published in the IAA weekly newsletter, no. 3615, for
October 11–15, 2015.

63 Kisilevitz and Greenwald 2012, 143–7.
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differences that allow us to recover several stages in the development of
Aelia Capitolina after 70 CE.

Earlier, we concentrated on remains in the south-western hill of
Jerusalem that are related to the military camp of the Tenth Legion, and
remains in the northern and south-eastern parts of the Old City that are
related to Aelia Capitolina. The marked difference between these areas
require a further discussion. Presented here are a few matters that arose
from this study:

1. All of the remains of the Roman period (that are dated between the late
first and the late third/early fourth century) are located more or less in
the area of the Old City, supporting the view that the Old City, in
general, preserves the remains of Aelia Capitolina, including the camp
of Legio X Fretensis. The summit ofMount Zion, lying today outside the
OttomanWalls, might have been included within the limits of the camp,
although this cannot be verified at present.

2. The Herodian Temenos of the Temple Mount was obviously included
within the limits of Aelia Capitolina.64 The Great Causeway carried the
eastern section of the decumanus toward the main western gate of the
enclosure.

3. The bridge, connecting the TempleMount with the south-western hill at
first, and with Aelia Capitolina, later, indicates the importance of the
Temple Mount to the Romans. It was offered, with due caution, that its
significance was not only due to strategic reasons, but also a result of the
tradition identifying the Temple Mount as a holy site.

4. Mapping the remains of the Roman period in Jerusalem shows marked
differences between the orthogonal layout of the remains in the north-
ern and south-eastern parts of the Old City that seem to represent the
Roman colony of Aelia Capitolina, and the ‘quite empty’ area of the
south-western hill, which probably represents the military camp. The
streets and the monumental buildings of Aelia Capitolina are well
preserved in many places throughout the Old City of Jerusalem.
Paving stones of Roman streets were exposed below the routes of several
main streets of the Old City,65 and the original drainage channels that
run below their level have been used continually until the twentieth
century. Monumental buildings of Aelia Capitolina, such as the arch of
the ‘Ecce Homo’, are still standing high above the surface, decorating the
cityscape of the Old City, and other structures are preserved to

64 For another opinion, see Eliav 1997, 131–3; 2005, 107–24.
65 See a summary of all the known street remains in Weksler-Bdolah, 2020:65–110.
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significant heights below ground level (such as the northern Roman city
gate below the Damascus gate, or the latrine building near the Great
Causeway). All in all, it is possible to suggest that the colony of Aelia
Capitolina is indeed preserved in the Old City of Jerusalem, streets and
structures alike.

5. The meager nature of the remains in the south-western hill requires
discussion. Most scholars believe that the Roman military camp in
Jerusalem was similar in shape to other military camps throughout the
Empire. Lack of remains of the camp and the least amount of building
inscriptions is surprising, and different explanations have been
proposed.66 In my opinion, the absence of the remains might be related
to the mode of the camp’s evacuation and the fate of the abandoned
camp thereafter. Polybius (Histories, VI, 40, 1–3); and Josephus (BJ 3,
89–92) indicated that the evacuation of amilitary camp during the battle
is done according to a proper procedure.67 It is likely that the evacuation
of a permanent camp also followed an established procedure, although
no descriptions are preserved in the historical sources. In this scenario,
most of the buildings were probably dismantled, building materials
collected in piles, and lightweight materials that could be utilized to
build the next camp (wooden beams, furniture, perhaps even intact roof
tiles) loaded on wagons and taken with the soldiers. It is likely that the
heavy building materials, ashlars, for example, that were left in piles in
the area of the camp, were later ‘robbed’ and utilized for construction of
buildings around the city. Indeed, stones carrying fragments of Latin
inscriptions, including inscriptions of the Legio X Fretensis, were reused
as building stones in later buildings throughout the city, and their origin
might have been the dismantled buildings of the camp.68

The camp, therefore, remained mostly empty. However, large struc-
tures, such as the Tower of David, were not dismantled but probably
used by the units of the army that continued to be present in the city
long after the Legion was transferred to Aelia (above, Notitia
Dignitatum Orientis xxxiv 21).

6. The historical sources and the archaeological finds indicate that the
abandoned campsite that became known as Zion in the Byzantine

66 Tsafrir 1999a, 129, note 39; Geva 1984 and others.
67 ‘The following is their manner of breaking up camp. Immediately upon the signal being given

they take down the tents and every one packs up. No tent, however, may be either taken down or
set up before those of the tribunes and consul. On the second signal they load the pack animals,
and on the third the leaders of the column must advance and set the whole camp in movement’
(Polybius, The Histories, VI, 40:1–3, in: Loeb Classical Library III).

68 See, for example, CIIP I, 2, 726, 727, 729.
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period remained walled and mostly empty of structures long after the
departure of the Legion (above). The south-western hill did not enjoy
urban development like other parts of the city, and especially in relation
to the extramural, south-eastern hill, where large private courtyard
houses were built from the early fourth century onward.69 It follows
that the abandoned campsite remained a military zone for several
decades after the legion was transferred to Aela. It was eventually
inhabited, mainly by churches and monasteries, several decades later.
A similar phenomenon, of campsites staying uninhabited for several
decades after their abandonment, was observed in Legio and Rapidum,
too.70

Summary: The X Fretensis Camp and the Roman City of Aelia
Capitolina

The historical evidence and the archaeological remains enable the follow-
ing reconstruction: After the destruction of Jerusalem in 70 CE, the Legio
X Fretensis camped on the south-western hill. The defenses of the camp
included sections of the First Wall in the north and the west, the Herodian
Tower of David in the NW corner, a hewn cliff, and protruding towers in
the south and steep cliffs along the eastern side. The camp extended over an
area of approximately 20–25 hectares and housed, apparently, the Legion
headquarters and some of the units (Fig. 17.1).

Inside the camp there were presumably different structures, including
the headquarters (principia) and barracks. Epigraphic finds indicate the
existence of stables, too. Outside the camp, on the eastern slopes of the
camp’s hill, artifacts originating from the camp’s refuse dumpwere recently
discovered, and the remains of a long bridge that connected the camp with
the Temple Mount were revealed.

Fifty to sixty years later, Hadrian built a new city on the ruins of
Jerusalem, naming it Aelia Capitolina. The Roman city was built north
and east of the camp’s hill, ‘wrapping’ the camp and maintaining
a prominent border between the territory of the camp and the city. The
city’s orthogonal plan abutted the camp, so that its main streets were
leading to the north gate of the camp (Fig. 17.2). This intersection of the

69 See Gordon 2007; Ben-Ami and Tchaknowetz 2013; Crowfoot and Fitzgerald 1929, 41–3;
Macalister and Duncen 1926, 105–11.

70 I thank Yotam Tepper for the information in regard to Legio; for Rapidum, see Le-Bohec 1994,
XXXVII, pl. 38.
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camp and the city became the starting point of the roads that led from the
city in all directions.

Following the departure of the Tenth Legion to Aela, and the abandon-
ment of the camp, and even more so after the Christianization of Jerusalem
in the early fourth century, the abandoned campsite remained a close
military zone, empty and fortified, while the rest of the city, and especially
the extramural area of the south-eastern hill, was developed and settled
densely (Fig. 17.3). Finally, between the late fourth and the mid fifth
centuries, the camp’s hill that was now called Zion was inhabited and
settled, and a wide-circumference city wall, encompassing the area of
Aelia Capitolina together with the south-western hill and the south-
eastern hill, was built (Fig. 17.4). As noted earlier, the relative emptiness
of the south-western hill until comparatively late – a result of its being the
former site of the Roman legionary camp – might have been among the
factors that enabled the extensive construction of churches and monaster-
ies across the hill in the Byzantine period, when the hill was named Zion.
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